THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Nate Fata, Special Referee

Lower Court Case No. 2016-CP-26-8032
Court of Appeals Case No. 2017-001817

RECEIVED

MAY 08 2018

SC Court of Appeals

DANIEL ERIC KNIGHT,

Respondent,

v.

PHILLIP RAY CAUSEY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Respectfully submitted,



Joseph D. Thompson, III, S.C. Bar No. 66580
111 Coleman Boulevard
Suite 301
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
Telephone: (843) 720-3460
JThompson@hallboothsmith.com

Attorney for Appellant Phillip Ray Causey

Dated: May 7, 2018

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT A NEW TRIAL PURSUANT TO SCRCP 52(b), SCRCP 59(a)(2), SCRCP 59(e) BECAUSE THE ORDER GRANTING JUDGMENT FOR \$3,489,206.14 WAS GROSSLY EXCESSIVE, SHOCKED THE CONSCIENCE AND WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.
- II. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN AWARDING FUTURE DAMAGES FOR SURGERY WHEN, AT THE TIME THE ORDER AWARDING JUDGMENT WAS ENTERED, RESPONDENT'S "FUTURE" SURGERY HAD OCCURRED. AS A RESULT, THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO SCRCP 52(b), SCRCP 59(a)(2), SCRCP 59(e) AND/OR, ALTERNATIVELY, IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL.
- III. APPELLANT DID NOT RECEIVE PROPER NOTICE OF THE DEFAULT DAMAGES HEARING AND, THEREFORE, THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT SHOULD BE VOIDED, VACATED AND/OR SET ASIDE.
- IV. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN HEARING AND DECIDING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL BECAUSE THE SPECIAL REFEREE LACKED THE POWER, AUTHORITY AND/OR JURISDICTION TO DO SO.
- V. ASSUMING *ARGUENDO* THAT THE SPECIAL REFEREE POSSESSED THE POWER, AUTHORITY AND JURISDICTION TO HEAR THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT, THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION.
- VI. THE REFERRAL OF THE CASE TO THE SPECIAL REFEREE WAS PROCEDURALLY DEFECTIVE AND, THEREFORE, THE SPECIAL REFEREE LACKED THE POWER, AUTHORITY AND/OR JURISDICTION TO HOLD A DAMAGES HEARING. CONSEQUENTIALLY, THE ORDER GRANTING JUDGMENT SHOULD BE VACATED AND/OR SET ASIDE AND THE SPECIAL REFEREE RECUSED/DISQUALIFIED FROM FURTHER PROCEEDINGS IN THIS MATTER.
- VII. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT A NEW TRIAL FOR FAILURE OF DUE PROCESS AFFORDED APPELLANT AND/OR DEMONSTRATED BIAS OF THE SPECIAL REFEREE.
- VIII. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO SCRCP 60.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 27, 2016, Daniel Eric Knight ("Respondent") and Phillip Ray Causey ("Appellant") were involved in a motor vehicle accident. On December 16, 2016, Respondent filed suit in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas against Appellant alleging negligence, gross negligence, carelessness and recklessness, seeking recovery of actual, special, consequential and punitive damages. (R. pp. 81-89). On January 2, 2017, Appellant was personally served with the Summons and Complaint. After Appellant failed to file an Answer, Respondent filed an Affidavit of Default on February 14, 2017. (R. pp. 321-322). Respondent then filed a Motion for Default Judgment against Appellant on February 16, 2017, and on February 24, 2017, the Circuit Court entered an Order declaring the Appellant in Default and that judgment be entered in an amount to be determined at a damages hearing. (R. pp. 323-326; p. 2). The Motion for Default Judgment was served on Appellant before the Order was issued by the Circuit Court declaring Appellant in default.

On March 2, 2017, Respondent filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for Referral to Special Referee. (R. pp. 327-330). Unlike the Motion for Default Judgment, Respondent did not serve the Motion for Referral to Special Referee on Appellant before the Court entered an Order granting that relief. The case was referred to Special Referee Nate Fata by Order of Referral filed March 22, 2017. The Order of Referral stated, in pertinent part:

It further appearing that a hearing to ascertain damages should be held to determine the amount owed to Plaintiff. Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED that this matter be referred with finality to Nate Fata, Esquire, as Special Referee, for a hearing on damages, with any appeal directly [sic] to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

The Order of Referral did not reference or make any mention of Rule 53, SCRCP. (R. pp. 3-4)

The case proceeded to a hearing on damages in front of the Special Referee on April 18, 2017. Although Appellant appeared at the damages hearing, he was not represented by counsel. The Special Referee did not indicate or enter any award for Respondent at the damages hearing.

On April 21, 2017, counsel filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of Appellant and, on April 25, 2017, filed a Motion to Set Aside Default. (R. p. 31). In an email to the Special Referee on the same date, Appellant's counsel stated, "As a result of this filing [Motion to Set Aside Default], the Defendant Causey respectfully requests that an Order/Judgment of the Special Referee should not be issued/held in abeyance until after the Circuit Court disposes of the now pending motion." (R. p. 1577; p. 152, line 9 – p. 153, line 4). At the time of the filing of the Motion to Set Aside Default, the Special Referee had not issued any order/judgment or any directive as to the disposition of the damages hearing.

Despite the pending Motion to Set Aside Default and despite the request of Appellant's counsel, the Special Referee issued a letter outlining his decision on damages the next day (April 26, 2017) and directed Respondent's counsel to draft an Order regarding same. (R. pp. 39-40). On May 30, 2017, the Special Referee filed his Order Granting Judgment with an award of THREE MILLION FOUR HUNDRED EIGHTY-NINE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED SIX DOLLARS AND 14/100 (\$3,489,206.14) in favor of Respondent and against Appellant.¹ (R. pp. 5-9).

On June 6, 2017, Respondent filed a memorandum in opposition to Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default. On June 8, 2017, Appellant filed Post Judgment Motions and Memorandum in Support. (R. pp. 332-344). On June 13, 2017, Appellant filed a Motion for Relief from

¹ By letter dated May 16, 2017, the Special Referee set the hearing for Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default for June 2, 2017. (R. p. 1573). At the request of Appellant's attorneys, the Special Referee, by email dated May 18, 2017, agreed to reschedule the hearing to June 13, 2017. (R. pp. 1574-1576). Despite full knowledge of the scheduled hearing and Appellant's objections to the entry of an Order prior to the hearing on Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default, the Special Referee's Order Granting Judgment was entered May 30, 2017.

Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60, SCRCP. (R. pp. 345-346). On June 22, 2017, Appellant filed an Affidavit of Phillip Ray Causey in support of all of Appellant's pending motions. (R. pp. 1578-1583). On June 29, 2017, the Special Referee held a hearing on Appellant's motions. On the same day, Respondent filed and served memoranda opposing Appellants' pending motions as well as an affidavit of witness Shawana Palsey-Shaw. (R. p. 1584).

On August 3, 2017, the Special Referee entered his Order Denying Defendant's Motions. (R. pp. 10-38). Appellant filed the present appeal on September 1, 2017, appealing the Order Granting Judgment, entered May 30, 2017, and the Order Denying Defendant's Motions, entered August 3, 2017.

FACTS OF THE CASE

The crux of this case is whether the almost \$3.5 million default damages award of the Special Referee, specifically selected by Respondent's counsel without consent of the *pro se* Appellant, should be allowed to stand in light of the questionable procedural history and even more questionable evidence on which the Special Referee based his award. In the final analysis, there is no justification, either procedurally or substantively, for the Special Referee's almost \$3.5 million default damages award.

I. Accident Facts

The vehicles of Appellant and Respondent collided on April 27, 2016 on U.S. Highway 701 in Horry County. The Appellant was traveling northbound on U.S. Highway 701 and the Respondent was traveling southbound when the vehicles collided near the center line. While Appellant's procedural default prevented him from arguing the liability issue, it is clear from the Affidavit submitted in support of his Motion to Set Aside Default that Appellant specifically denied crossing the center line prior to the impact and that he had a meritorious defense. (R. p.

1579). Without question, had default not been entered, Appellant's sworn testimony would have been sufficient to have the case submitted to, and decided by, a jury in Horry County.

On the same date of the hearing on Appellants' pending motions (June 29, 2017), Respondent submitted the affidavit of witness Shawana Palsey-Shaw and the Special Referee admitted the affidavit over Appellant's objections. (R. p. 174, lines 3-18). While the affidavit testimony provided by the witness supported Respondent's version of the accident, it would not have been sufficient to overcome, as a matter of law, the contradictory sworn testimony of Appellant with regard to how the accident occurred. In other words, in the absence of the default, the case would have been submitted to a jury for it to decide the competing and contradictory evidence and liability, if any, for the accident.

II. Damages Facts

The Special Referee concluded that Respondent "suffered permanent injuries, permanent scarring, and significant emotional distress and loss of enjoyment of life." (R. p. 7). The Special Referee concluded that Respondent sustained the following damages:

- | | |
|--------------------------------|---------------------------|
| 1. Past Medical Bills: | \$177,134.76 ² |
| 2. Future Medical Bills: | \$ 97,425.00 |
| 3. Past Lost Wages: | \$ 10,578.00 |
| 4. Five Weeks of Future Wages: | \$ 4,068.38 |

In addition to the foregoing, the Special Referee awarded \$3.2 million "for permanent scarring, past and future pain and suffering, and past and future loss of enjoyment of life" resulting in a total judgment against the *pro se* Appellant of Three Million Four Hundred Eighty-nine Thousand Two Hundred Six and 14/100 Dollars (\$3,489,206.14). (R. p. 8).

While there is little doubt that Respondent sustained an injury that required certain medical attention,³ the evidence readily demonstrated that Respondent had made, or was destined

² The overwhelming majority of the "past medical bills" were the result of surgical procedures performed on May 15, 2016 and July 8, 2016, and the associated hospitalizations.

to make, a good recovery with no permanency other than residual cosmetic torso scarring from the surgical procedures.

Dr. Gilbertas Rimkus was the surgeon who performed all post-accident procedures on Respondent and he was the only treating medical professional qualified as an expert witness at the damages hearing. Consequentially, Dr. Rimkus was the most qualified witness to speak to Respondent's injuries and recovery, especially given the unique nature of the alleged injury, *i.e.* a perforated bowel/injury to the small intestines. While the Special Referee found that Respondent sustained "permanent injuries," Dr. Rimkus' testimony does not support this finding. Perhaps the most definitive statement was elicited by Respondent's counsel during direct examination:

Q. And will his digestive system ever be the same as it was prior to this collision?

A. Yes, I expect so.

(R. p. 119 (Tr. p. 114), lines 20-22). There is no evidence in the hearing record to contradict Dr. Rimkus' testimony with regard to the lack of permanent injury to Respondent's digestive system. Instead, the uncontradicted testimony of Dr. Rimkus is that there has been no permanent injury to Respondent's digestive system. Additional testimony from Dr. Rimkus supported his opinion that Plaintiff did not sustain a permanent injury. For example, as to the assertion by Respondent that he had permanent diet restrictions, Dr. Rimkus specifically testified:

Q: And as a result of these surgeries that he's gone through are there certain food restrictions, diet restrictions that he now has?

A. Not at this point, not at this point.

³ More specifically, on May 15, 2016, Respondent submitted to surgery for repair of a perforation of the terminal ileum which included resection of the small intestine and ileostomy. On July 8, 2016, Respondent submitted to a second surgery for ileostomy takedown.(R. p. 117 (Tr. p. 107), lines 4-14; p. 118 (Tr. p. 109), lines 14-17). At the time of the damages hearing on April 18, 2017, Respondent was scheduled for a third procedure for repair of a hernia (May 8, 2017). (R. p. 118 (Tr. p. 111), lines 11-13, 18-20).

(R. p. 118 (Tr. p. 110), lines 17-22). Dr. Rimkus further clarified his testimony opining that "once a person is considered to be recovered from intestinal surgery at this point he doesn't have diet restrictions." (R. p. 118 (Tr. p. 111), lines 2-5).

As for the need for any medical care and/or operative intervention following the May 2017 hernia repair, Dr. Rimkus specifically opined that, "I don't expect that.... If he recovers without complications, he will not need anything else." (R. p. 119 (Tr. p. 113), lines 13-17). And finally, as to any alleged physical restrictions, Dr. Rimkus testified that, at the time of the hearing on April 18, 2017, Respondent had a lifting restriction of twenty (20) pounds due to the then-existing hernia. (R. p. 119 (Tr. p. 114), lines 9-12). ("Well, at this point yes because he – he developed a hernia in the midline."). At no point in his testimony did Dr. Rimkus ever offer an opinion that Respondent sustained any permanent injury, damage or restrictions.⁴ In fact, there simply is no evidence in the record indicating that Plaintiff has sustained any permanent medically/scientificallly-documented restrictions on either his vocational or recreational activities.⁵

Importantly, at the time of the damages hearing on April 18, 2017, Respondent was scheduled for a hernia repair on May 8, 2017. Consequentially, at the time of the hearing in April 2017, Respondent produced evidence of estimates for Respondent's future medical needs, including an estimate for the hernia repair. However, at the time the Special Referee issued his Order Awarding Judgment on May 30, 2017, the surgery had been completed and the expenses

⁴ To be sure, Dr. Rimkus confirmed that Respondent sustained certain superficial abdominal scarring as a result of the surgical incisions. That said, there is no evidence in the record to indicate that Respondent sustained any permanent medical/scientific restrictions as to any physical activity.

⁵ The 1,100 pages of medical records entered as Respondent's Exhibit 19 (R. pp. 417-1572) include additional evidence of the lack of permanent injury and/or support for a \$3.5 million judgment. For example, in an office note dated October 18, 2016, just over six (6) months following the accident, Family Nurse Practitioner Rachel Collins noted that "Patient is back at work [as a physical therapy assistant]. Patient is back in the gym. Without any pain or discomfort with working out." (R. p. 1258). (emphasis added).

for same would have been certain. As a result, at the time the award was entered by the Special Referee, it did not accurately reflect the actual damages incurred by Respondent.

APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS

I. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT A NEW TRIAL PURSUANT TO SCRPC 52(b), SCRPC 59(a)(2), SCRPC 59(e) BECAUSE THE ORDER GRANTING JUDGMENT FOR \$3,489,206.14 WAS GROSSLY EXCESSIVE, SHOCKED THE CONSCIENCE AND WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

No evidence of permanent impairment.

No evidence of permanent restrictions on work or social activities.⁶

No evidence of permanent injury with the exception of cosmetic scars from surgical incisions.

All of this and yet the Special Referee, specifically selected by Respondent's counsel, rendered a default damages award of almost \$3.5 million.

Unfortunately, this is one of those cases which the Supreme Court has recognized as a "great concern" as it involves a large award in an unliquidated damages claim in default. Renney v Dobbs House, Inc., 272 S.C. 562, 566, 274 S.E.2d 290, 292 (1981). ("It is generally recognized that courts should closely scrutinize default judgments to prevent harsh results and drastic action. It is the policy of the law to favor the trial of cases on the merits.") Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Marion Amphitheatre, LLC, 408 S.C. 87, 757 S.E.2d 557 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing Renney for the same proposition). Here, the Special Referee's default damages award was so grossly excessive and so shockingly disproportionate to the Respondent's claimed injuries and damages that it had to have been founded on something other than the evidence in the record and, consequentially, it

⁶ On August 11, 2016, a month following the second surgery, Respondent's surgeon Dr. Gilbertas Rimkus returned Respondent to work as a physical therapy assistant with no restrictions. (R. p. 1346).

is the duty of this Court to set it aside. Sanders v. Prince, 304 S.C. 236, 238, 403 S.E.2d 640, 642 (1991).

The evidence in the record is straight-forward. The motor vehicle accident occurred April 27, 2016. On May 15, 2016, Respondent submitted to surgery for repair of a perforation of the terminal ileum which included resection of the small intestine and ileostomy. On July 8, 2016, Respondent submitted to a second surgery for ileostomy takedown. (R. p. 117 (Tr. p. 107), lines 3-14; p. 118 (Tr. p. 109), lines 14-17). In an office note dated October 18, 2016, just over six (6) months following the accident and three (3) months following the second surgery, Family Nurse Practitioner Rachel Collins noted that "Patient is back at work [as a physical therapy assistant]. Patient is back in the gym. Without any pain or discomfort with working out." (R. p. 1258). (emphasis added). Respondent subsequently developed an incisional hernia and, at the time of the default damages hearing on April 27, 2017, was scheduled for surgical repair on May 8, 2017. (R. p. 118 (Tr. p. 111), lines 11-13, 18-20). While the hernia repair was outstanding at the time of the default damages hearing, Respondent's treating surgeon Dr. Gilbertas Rimkus dispelled any doubts and/or speculation as to the expectation of a complete recovery for Respondent without any permanent sequelae.

Importantly, Dr. Rimkus was the surgeon who performed all post-accident procedures on Respondent and he was the only treating medical professional qualified as an expert witness at the default damages hearing. Consequentially, Dr. Rimkus was the most qualified witness to speak to Respondent's injuries and recovery, especially given the unique nature of the alleged injury, *i.e.* a perforated bowel/injury to the small intestines. While the Special Referee found that Respondent sustained "permanent injuries," Dr. Rimkus' testimony specifically contradicts

the Special Referee's findings. Perhaps the most definitive statement was elicited by Respondent's counsel during direct examination:

Q. And will his digestive system ever be the same as it was prior to this collision?

A. Yes, I expect so.

(R. p. 119 (Tr. p. 114), lines 20-22). With no expectation of permanency, Dr. Rimkus did not offer any testimony as to any permanent impairment rating. In fact, there is no competent medical/scientific evidence in the hearing record to contradict Dr. Rimkus' testimony with regard to the lack of permanent injury to Respondent's digestive system.

Further testimony from Dr. Rimkus demonstrated additional direct contradiction to the Special Referee's finding of permanent injury. For example, as to the assertion by Respondent that he had permanent diet restrictions, Dr. Rimkus specifically testified:

Q: And as a result of these surgeries that he's gone through are there certain food restrictions, diet restrictions that he now has?

A. Not at this point, not at this point.

(R. p. 118 (Tr. p. 110), lines 17-22). Dr. Rimkus further clarified his testimony opining that "once a person is considered to be recovered from intestinal surgery at this point he doesn't have diet restrictions." (R. p. 118 (Tr. p. 111), lines 2-5).

As for the need for any medical care and/or operative intervention following the then-scheduled May 2017 hernia repair, Dr. Rimkus specifically opined that, "I don't expect that [future surgeries] . . . If he recovers without complications, he will not need anything else." (R. p. 119 (Tr. p. 113), lines 13-17). And finally, as to any alleged physical restrictions, Dr. Rimkus testified that, at the time of the hearing on April 18, 2017, Respondent had a temporary lifting restriction of twenty (20) pounds due to the then-existing hernia. (R. p. 119 (Tr. p. 114), lines 9-

12). ("Well, at this point yes because he – he developed a hernia in the midline."). At no point in his testimony did Dr. Rimkus ever offer an opinion that Respondent sustained any permanent injury, damage or restrictions.⁷ In fact, there simply is no evidence in the record indicating that Respondent sustained any permanent medically/scientificallly-documented restrictions on either his vocational or recreational activities.

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