THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Nate Fata, Special Referee

Case No. 2016-CP-26-8032
Appellate Case No. 2017-001817

RECEIVED
MAR 01 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Daniel Eric Knight Respondent,

v.

Phillip Ray Causey, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Ian D. Maguire # 66587
P. Brooke Eaves # 102021
MAGUIRE LAW FIRM
1600 North Oak Street, Suite B
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
(843) 361-7549
(843) 361-7048 (facsimile)

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674
BLUESTEIN THOMPSON SULLIVAN, LLC
P.O. Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599
(803) 779-8995 (facsimile)
blake@bluesteinattorneys.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

I. The special referee did not abuse his discretion in determining the amount of damages awarded in this case was reasonably related to the character and extent of Knight's injuries.

The special referee awarded significant damages because there was evidence the case warranted significant damages.

a. The record includes substantial evidence justifying a large damages award.

This wreck was violent. Knight estimated he was driving 55 mph when Causey “swerved straight in to me.” (4/18/17 Tr.p.12, line 15 - p.13, line 23). Knight’s vehicle was totaled and the doors had to be removed with crowbars. (Id.p.15, lines 3-10). At the damages hearing Knight explained he likely lost consciousness because he did not remember how his vehicle came to be surrounded by the dozen or so bystanders after the wreck who were “trying to check on me and make sure that I wasn’t dead.” (Id.p.22, lines 8-21).

The wreck also caused complicated and extensive medical damage. Knight had some wounds like cuts, bruises, and a broken toe that were readily apparent. (Id.p.21, line 13 - p.22, line 2). At the hospital he was diagnosed with a pelvic contusion. (Id.p.22, lines 3-7). Knight had to go back to the hospital on May 15—about two weeks after the wreck—because he was in excruciating pain. (Id.p.23, line 11 - p.24, line 4). At that point, doctors discovered he had a hole in his stomach, a perforated intestine, and bowel fluid was leaking into his abdominal cavity. *Id.*; see also (Pls.Ex.19pp.46-47).

These injuries caused significant short-term damage. Knight required three surgeries. The first was emergency surgery to remove part of his small intestine and bypass his intestines with an ostomy bag. (Id.pp.528-529). This required a two-week stay in the

hospital during which Knight was diagnosed with an acute kidney injury and respiratory failure. (Tr.p.27, line 20 - p.11); see also (Pls.Ex.25p.7). The second surgery was to reconnect Knight's digestive system, remove the ostomy bag, and repair a hernia that developed at the site of the incision. (Id.p.11) (summary dated 7/8/16). At the time of the damages hearing, Knight was scheduled for a third surgery to repair yet another hernia. (4/18/17 Tr..p.40, lines 1-25).

Knight described the "de-humanizing" helplessness he experienced during the 57 days he had an ostomy bag. (Id.p.34, line 23). He said he sat in the recliner or sat in bed because he was in a substantial amount of pain and because the ostomy bag basically left him incapacitated. (Id.p.63, line 24 - p.64, line 12).

The injury also caused significant long-term damage. Knight testified at the damages hearing his lower back and hips are in constant pain. (Id.p.67, lines 2-21). He also showed the special referee the scarring on his abdomen. (Id.p.71, lines 18-21). The referee described the scarring as "very large and grotesque." (8/3/17 Or.p.21).

Knight said before the wreck he had been in the best shape of his life. (4/18/17 Tr.p.54, line 16 - p.55, line 1). Knight was a competitive power lifter who had won three national titles in his weight class. (Id.p.54, lines 2-5). He lost 40 pounds as a result of the wreck, was on a 20-pound lifting restriction at the time of the damages hearing due to the hernia, and said he had been told his ability to power lift was "pretty much done." (Id.p.58, line 17 - p.59, line 6).

Knight also described the wreck's impact on his personal life. Knight's wife was his primary care giver during his lengthy recovery but by the time of the damages hearing they

were separated. (Id.p.59, line 16 - p.60, line 7). Knight explained he was not the same person as before the wreck and could not do the things he used to do. *Id.*

b. The appellate court's power to reverse an award is limited to awards based on passion, prejudice, or factors other than the evidence.

An appellate court has limited power with respect to the amount of a damages award. The trial court may reduce an award of damages that the court believes is “liberal” by granting a new trial nisi remittitur, but the appellate court may only reverse when the amount of the award is “so grossly excessive” it indicates the jury was “moved by passion or prejudice, or other considerations not founded on the evidence and the instructions of the trial court[.]” *Ray v. Simon*, 245 S.C. 346, 359-360, 140 S.E.2d 575, 581 (1965).

Precedent describes these sorts of awards as obvious outliers. A “grossly excessive” verdict is deemed to result from “disregard of the facts and of the instructions of the Court, and to be due to passion and prejudice rather than reason.” *Bowers v. Charleston & W. C. Ry. Co.*, 210 S.C. 367, 375, 42 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1947).

Precedent also explains the lower court is due substantial deference when it comes to the proper valuation of a damages award. This is because the amount of unliquidated damages “cannot be determined with any degree of certainty, but is largely a matter of judgment based upon the facts and circumstances of each case.” *Watson v. Wilkinson Trucking Co.*, 244 S.C. 217, 224, 136 S.E.2d 286, 289 (1964). The Supreme Court has explained there is no market value for personal injury and pain and suffering, and that the proper assessment of unliquidated damages must generally rest “in the sound discretion” of the jury and trial judge. *Anderson v. Elliott*, 228 S.C. 371, 375, 90 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1955).

c. This award was not based on passion, prejudice, or things outside the evidence.

Causey's central argument is that there is no evidence Knight has permanent injuries or limitations. This is directly contradicted by Knight's testimony about experiencing constant pain and about his being unable to participate in his pre-accident activities of daily living. The record also includes evidence offered by a life-care planner, explaining Knight is at increased risk of future hernias and infections from future surgeries. (Pls.Ex.25pp.13-14); (4/18/17 Tr.p.87, lines 8-14). The life care planner also reported Knight experiences ongoing anxiety, depression, anger, bitterness, and loneliness. (Pls.Ex.25p.13). Causey does not account for this evidence. Instead he pretends it does not exist.

It is also noteworthy that the referee's award falls within the parties' competing proposals of the case's value. Causey said the case's maximum value was \$1 million. (6/29/17 Tr.p.97, line12 - p.98, line 16). Knight said \$4 million and offered a methodology for arriving at this figure based on varying calculations of daily damages for the rest of Knight's statutory life expectancy. (4/18/17 Tr.p.119, line 3 - p.122, line 17).

The referee conspicuously advertised that its award "was not motivated by prejudice or passion." (8/3/17 Or.p.21). The referee said he "firmly believe[d]" the award bore a reasonable relationship to Knight's damages. *Id.* The referee explained there was evidence the wreck had a dramatic impact on Knight's life. *Id.* This is consistent with Knight's explanation that no amount of money would compensate him for the pain and loss of enjoyment he has experienced. (4/18/17 Tr.p.72, lines 6-12). Certain things are properly regarded as priceless. Knight would probably pay anything to get his life back.

II. The special referee did not abuse his discretion in denying Causey's motion to admit cumulative evidence created after the damages hearing but before the referee entered the judgment.

At the damages hearing on April 18, 2017, Knight testified he was scheduled to have his third surgery a few weeks later, on May 8. (4/18/17 Tr.p.40, lines 23-25). The special referee issued the judgment May 30. (5/30/17 Or.p.1).

After the judgment was entered Causey asked the special referee to reopen the record, contending the actual cost of Knight's third surgery constituted grounds for amending the judgment under Rules 52(b), 59(a)(2), and 60(b), SCRCF. (Def's 6/8/17 Mot.p.5). The referee rejected this argument, explaining the record already contained "ample testimony" supporting Knight's future medical expenses. (8/3/17 Or.p.15).

The special referee's decision was correct, for at least two reasons.

First, Causey cannot show an abuse of discretion. Newly discovered evidence falls under Rule 60(b). Precedent explains the decision to grant or deny relief under Rule 60(b) rests in the trial judge's discretion. *Lanier v. Lanier*, 364 S.C. 211, 216, 612 S.E.2d 456, 458 (Ct. App. 2005). The same standard of review applies to motions for relief under Rule 59(a)(2), which authorizes the circuit court to grant a new trial "for any of the reasons" for which rehearings have been granted. *Blejski v. Blejski*, 325 S.C. 491, 497 n.4, 480 S.E.2d 462, 466 n.4 (Ct. App. 1997).

The special referee correctly observed this evidence about the cost of Knight's third surgery was cumulative to the life care planner's estimate of Knight's future medical expenses. "Table 1" of the life care planner's report detailed this element of damages. (Pls.Ex.25pp.16-21). The table covers Knight's surgery and his recovery. (Tr.p.91).

The second reason the referee's decision was correct is that Causey cannot show this evidence would change the result. Precedent explains the moving party in a Rule 60(b) motion must present the evidence justifying a claim for relief. *BB & T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 552, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2006); *Lanier*, 364 S.C. at 217, 612 S.E.2d at 459. Nothing suggests this evidence would have any effect on the judgment.

III. The special referee correctly determined Causey received proper notice of the damages hearing.

Knight served Causey with notice of the damages hearing six (6) days before the damages hearing occurred. The damages hearing was April 18, 2017. Knight served Causey by mail on April 12, 2017. (6/29/17Tr.Ex.4p.2).

Knight also personally served Causey with notice of the hearing the following day, five days before the damages hearing. (Id.p.4). Causey attended the damages hearing.

At the hearing on his post-judgment motions, Causey argued he was entitled to ten (10) days notice of the damages hearing under the rule that says a motion or the notice of a hearing on a motion must be served not later than ten days before a hearing. Rule 6(d), SCRCF. (6/29/17 Tr.p.116, line 6 - p.120, line 10).

The special referee rejected this argument for three reasons. One, he explained the argument was not properly before him because it was not set forth in any of Causey's written motions for relief. (6/28/17 Or.p.28). Two, the referee held Rule 6 did not apply, citing a case explaining the better practice is for counsel to provide a defaulted party who has not appeared four (4) days notice. (Id.pp.28-29). The referee's third reason for rejecting the argument was that Causey participated in the hearing and thus did not suffer prejudice. *Id.*

Here again, there are multiple reasons the referee's decision was correct.

First, Causey has not challenged the referee's ruling that this argument was not properly presented because it was not raised in his written motions for relief. An unappealed ruling is the law of the case. *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund v. Deloitte & Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997).

Second, Rule 6 does not apply. Applying this rule would lead to the nonsensical result of giving more notice to a defaulting party who *has not* appeared than to a defaulting party who *has* appeared. Rule 55(b)(2), SCRPC, explains a defaulting party who has appeared in the action shall receive at least 3 days notice of the damages hearing. Persuasive authority explains the purpose of this rule is "to protect those parties who, although delaying in a formal sense by failing to file pleadings . . . have otherwise indicated to the moving party a clear purpose to defend the suit." 10A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2687 (4th ed.). It is difficult to understand the argument that the rules would give more protection to a party who has shown no interest in defending the case.

Before the Rules of Civil Procedure existed the notice requirements for hearings were set by statute. Section 15-9-960 (1977) explained a motion required four days notice. In *Lewis v. Congress of Racial Equality* the Supreme Court held it was "the better practice" to give four days notice of a damages hearing to a defaulting party who has not appeared because "[p]articipation by the defending party . . . will tend to insure a more fair verdict and judgment." 275 S.C. 556, 561, 274 S.E.2d 287, 289-2920 (1981). The Court said it would "closely scrutinize" a default judgment where the defending party was not given an opportunity to participate in the damages hearing. *Id.* at 561, 274 S.E.2d at 289-290.

This history is instructive for two reasons. First, it tends to support the idea that all defaulting parties should be treated equally. There is no support for treating defaulting parties who have not appeared more favorably than those who have appeared. Second, it illustrates that the purpose of the notice requirement was satisfied here. Causey attended the damages hearing and participated in it. He apologized to Knight during the hearing—three times. (4/18/17 Tr.p.25, line 24 - p.26, line 3; p.72, line 17 - p.73, line 11; p.75, lines 2-10).

IV. The special referee properly heard the motion to set aside default; the motion was not required to be heard by a circuit judge.

The order referring this case to the special referee explained the case came before the court on Knight’s motion for referral. (3/22/17 Or.). The order noted it “further appear[ed]” a damages hearing should be held. *Id.* The order then instructed “this matter” was “referred with finality” to the special referee “for a hearing on damages[] with any appeal directly to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.” *Id.*

The special referee rejected the argument that his authority was limited to conducting a damages hearing, explaining it read the order to refer “the matter” to the referee—meaning the entire case—and that the order explained the case was “referred with finality.” (8/3/17 Or.p.4). The referee also examined the operative rule of procedure—Rule 53, SCRCF—noting the rule speaks of referring a “cause of action” to a master or referee and that there was only one cause of action in Knight’s complaint. (8/30/17 Or.pp.4-5).

The referee’s decision was correct. Rule 53(c) explains that once a case is refereed to a master or special referee the master or referee has the same power and authority as a circuit judge. This Court has noted a master is authorized to entertain post-trial motions even

when the order of reference does not specifically authorize the master to conduct proceedings after the judgment. *Bunkum v. Manor Properties*, 321 S.C. 95, 99, 467 S.E.2d 758, 760 (Ct. App. 1996). The Court explained it makes sense for the master to hear post-judgment motions because the master served as the trial judge.

The same reasoning applies here, as it would be odd for one judge (the referee) to have jurisdiction over the damages hearing but another judge consider whether default should be set aside or whether to grant relief from a default judgment. Knight could not locate an example of a case where the judge conducting the damages hearing did not also consider the relevant motions requesting relief.

This Court has already rejected a similar argument to the one Causey is making. The order of reference in *Smith Companies of Greenville v. Hayes* said “It appearing that this is an action for the foreclosure of a Bond for Title . . . it is ordered that this action be . . . referred.” 311 S.C. 358, 360, 428 S.E.2d 900, 902 (Ct. App. 1993). This Court said the order of reference described the action and offered the grounds for the court’s decision to refer the case. *Id.* at 360, 428 S.E.2d at 902. The language of the order did not limit the master’s power. The same is true of the order’s language here.

Causey also argued the referee lost jurisdiction because his motion requesting relief from default included a request for a jury trial. (Defs.6/8/17Mpt.pp.3-4). The special referee properly rejected this argument. (8/3/17 Or.pp.13-14). Rule 5(b), SCRCPP, requires a party to serve a written demand for a jury trial not later than 10 days after service of the last pleading. Knight’s complaint is the only pleading in this case, and it was filed in December of 2016. Causey filed his motion to have default set aside in June of 2017. (Def’s 6/13/17

Mot.). The special referee also correctly cited precedent explaining the right to a jury trial is waived when a party is in default. (8/3/17 Or.p.13) (citing *Gossett v. Gilliam*, 317 S.C. 82, 87, 452 S.E.2d 6, 9 (Ct. App. 1994)).

V. The special referee did not abuse his discretion in finding Causey failed to establish good cause to set aside default.

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